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U.S. DISTRICT COURT
N.D. OF ALABAMA

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA

CASE NO:
2:18-cv-01310-MHH

Anthony Underwood
Melvin Nevett
Alzelda Richardson
Paul Garret

Anna L. Hill

Shirley Cotton,

Plaintiffs,

Vvs.
Kenneth E. Gulley, Mayor of Bessemer
The City of Bessemer Councilmembers:
David Vance

Chester Porter

Cynthia Donald

Donna Thigpen

Ron Marshall

Jesse Matthews

Cleophus King

Wanda Taylor, Bessemer City Clerk

Johnnie Mae Lassiter, Individual

Defendants.

MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
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COMES NOW the undersigned counsel on behalf of Plaintiffs, and respectfully moves
for this honorable court for a preliminary injunction enjoining the defendants from any and all
participation in the administration of the upcoming August 2018 City of Bessemer municipal
elections. Grounds for this Motion are set forth fully in Plaintiffs’ accompanying Memorandum

of law.

Respectfully submitted,

s/Richard A. Rice

Richard A. Rice,

Attorney for Plaintiffs
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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

INTRODUCTION

The city of Bessemer showed at best blatant disregard for, and at worst
outright contempt for, numerous areas of Alabama’s election laws including the
2014 election. The illegal conduct was not only aided and abetted by the city’s
elected officials (who, of course, were set to directly benefit from particular
election outcomes), but many of them were participants. As such, the city’s
leadership (the vast majority of whom were re-elected in 2014) should be viewed
as unfit to oversee another municipal election. Specific & definite illegalities
include a consistent lack of privacy in voting booths, an absolute failure to
properly train election officials, several troubling occurrences dealing with
provisional ballots, several unfortunate absences on the part of the city clerk, and
numerous significant electioneering offences on the part of the incumbent mayor
and city council.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a case about rampant, continual election violations on behalf of
incumbent elected officials in the city of Bessemer, Alabama. The elections
process in the City of Bessemer has been replete with conflicts of interest, corrupt

practices, and illegal schemes effectuated to keep each incumbent official in
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elected office. At all times prior to and during each municipal election, numerous
elections violations occurred.

During previous elections, various polling locations were not open and
available to voters at the proscribed time of 7:00 a.m. Poll workers at those
locations reported to several locations as early as 6:00 a.m. to begin preparations,
at which point none of the other necessary personnel were present until as late as
6:50 a.m. Only a minority of poll workers possessed knowledge and skill at
executing their tasks, most were inadequately trained, or lacked any training at all.

As a result of the tardiness of the polling personnel, voters were not allowed
into the polling locations until 7:30 a.m. Voters were not provided with the
infrastructure to fill out their ballots with the required privacy. Voters and poll
workers were able to view others’ ballots. Numerous polling locations did not have
designated space for voters to fill out their ballots with certain voters needing to
use any empty space available, such as the wall, the stage in an auditorium, or
simply standing and filling out the ballots in their hands.

City councilmembers, incumbent elected officials, and other political
candidates (to include each Defendant elected official) came inside of the polling
locations, approached and engaged voters, and campaigned to voters inside of the
polling locations. City councilmembers and other incumbent elected officials

requested that poll workers report any issues directly to them to handle. Incumbent
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elected officials also directly provided lunch, and other benefits to poll workers.
One such official informed poll workers that the mayor had instructed him to
purchase lunch for them for the day. The official proceeded to do so. Other
incumbent elected officials repeatedly visited polling locations every hour and a
half. A political candidate even helped a voter fill out a ballot.

Absentee ballots were cast by voters at various polling locations, these ballots
were not separated from the other ballots. In many instances, a “voter mogul”
directly approached elderly and other disadvantaged voters and personally handled
all of the necessary paperwork for those voters. To include filing out the voter
registration and absentee ballot forms. These voters did not physically review
either form before these “moguls” completed them and left the voters’ presence.

Poll watchers observed clerks incorrectly placing certain ballots in a secrecy
folder. At one point, the mayor of Bessemer came into a polling location with
seven other individuals, shaking hands and campaigning, though he did not cast a
ballot.

At one polling place, during active voting times, a machine with no technical
issues was opened, the ballot box removed, and a different ballot box placed
inside. At a certain polling location, a ballot machine was not made available until
well after the first machine, however, the final count for the second machine

outnumbered the first. That machine was also shut down almost 2 hours prior to
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the polls closing. A poll worker observed a large number of ballots being removed
from that machine.

In certain locations, provisional ballots were placed into the ballot machines at
the direction of the Chief Inspectors, instead of being separated into an envelope as
required. When a poll watcher informed one inspector that this was incorrect, the
inspector called city hall who informed the inspector to write voter’s names on the
voter’s roster and throw the affidavits away.

At almost every polling location, the ballot machines suffered several errors in
reporting and thus would not run the reporting tapes. In several locations, polling
clerks were instructed to tally the votes by hand in spite of each ballot being cast
into a machine.

ARGUMENT

The Alabama Supreme Court has held that the issuance of a preliminary
injunction is well within the sound discretion of a trial court. See Jacobs Broad.
Group, Inc. v. Jeff Beck Broad. Group, LLC, 160 So.3d 345, 349 (Ala. 2014)
(quoting SouthTrust Bank of Alabama, N.A. v. Webb-Stiles Co., 931 So.2d 706,
709 (Ala. 2005).

A Plaintiff that seeks a preliminary injunction has the burden of persuading

the court of four factors:

"(1) that without the injunction the plaintiff would suffer immediate and
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irreparable injury; (2) that the plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law; (3)
that the plaintiff has at least a reasonable chance of success on the ultimate
merits of his case; and (4) that the hardship imposed on the defendant by the
injunction would not unreasonably outweigh the benefit accruing to the
plaintiff."

Ormco Corp. v. Johns, 869 So0.2d 1109, (Ala. 2003) (quoting Perley v. Tapscan,
Inc., 646 So.2d 585, 587 (Ala. 1994).

The Alabama Supreme Court defines “irreparable injury” as one that is not
redressable in a court of law with an award of money damages. Perley at 587
(citing Triple J Cattle, Inc. v. Chambers, 551 So0.2d 280 (Ala. 1989)). The Eleventh
Circuit further emphasizes that "[a] showing of irreparable injury is the sine qua
non of injunctive relief' and that "the absence of a substantial likelihood of
irreparable injury would, standing alone, make preliminary injunctive relief
improper." Siegel, 234 F.3d at 1176 Plaintiffs’ burden of proof is satisfied upon a
demonstration that the threat of harm must be irreparable. United States v.
Jefferson County, 720 F.2d 1511, 1520 (11th Cir.1983); see also Faculty Senate of

Florida Int'l University v. Winn, 477 F.Supp.2d 1198, 1208 (S.D.F1a.2007).

It is apparent from the longstanding traditions, patterns and practices of
incumbent city leadership that Bessemer voters have been disenfranchised and, in
the least, had their voting power diluted by elected officials. The actions
undertaken by the Defendants have continued and will affect the upcoming

election without intervention from this Court. The Defendants have utilized their
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position to violate not only the Plaintiffs’ rights but the rights of each voter in the
city of Bessemer. The Defendants have all acted under the color of state law by
using their influence and position to remain in office to the disadvantage of the
rights of voters to seek new leadership. Mere money damages will not remedy this
injustice as the citizens of Bessemer seek and have the right to elect the candidates
of their choice to public office. Money damages will not remove the officials from
office, nor will such damages ensure an electoral process guaranteed by the

Constitution of the United States.

Defendants’ practices and patterns have not been limited to election day, but
in preparation of the elections and afterwards. Defendants have employed the same
practices and patterns, under the color of state law, in anticipation of the August
2018 municipal election. Plaintiffs urge this Court to enjoin Defendants from
further action related to the administration of the upcoming municipal election and
from being involved in any way on election day outside of legally casting their

own vote.

Plaintiffs have suffered the injury of disenfranchisement, as well as, violations
of their right of freedom of speech, and freedom of association. There is no easily
quantifiable money damage award that would make Plaintiffs whole. An award of

money damages would not reinstate the rights Plaintiffs lost to cast their ballots in
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confidence that their vote counts. Even citizens casting ballots absentee are not
guaranteed the protection of their vote counting, or even being cast for the
candidate they selected. Votes are also being diluted by citizens voting in person at
the polling places in addition to casting absentee ballots. Votes are also being cast
via proxy, however, the candidates selected by the actual voter differs from the

vote actually cast by the proxy. Money damages alone will not resolve this issue.

The Plaintiffs have demonstrated a reasonable chance of success in prevailing
in the underlying case on its merits. See Ormco, at 1109. However, this reasonable
chance does not demand Plaintiffs to certainly prevail in order for a trial judge to
grant the injunction. Watts v. Victory, 333 So.2d 560 (Ala. 1976) (See also Coxe v.
Huntsville Gas Light Co., 129 Ala. 496, 20 S0.867 (Ala. 1901). Indeed, a trial
judge has the discretion to find that Plaintiffs have “presented a fair question as to
the existence of the right to be protected, and further finds that temporary
interference to preserve the status quo is convenient and expedient, then he may
exercise his discretion and grant the injunction.” Id. Each citizen afforded the right
to vote in the United States of America, has certain constitutional protections that
allow for those citizens to vote for their candidates of their choice. This right to
vote comes free from undue influence, violations of election laws, and abridgement
of First Amendment rights and freedoms. Without the intervention of this Court,

these rights will most certainly be violated and lost.
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Lastly, Plaintiffs have demonstrated that the burden on the Defendants to
comply with the injunction does not unreasonably outweigh the benefit to the
Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs only seek to have a fair electoral process, not have their votes
diluted, not suffer disenfranchisement, or undue influence on the part of
Defendants and their agents. Plaintiffs are not seeking to enjoin Defendants from
campaigning, discussing issues with voters, serving the community, or even
casting votes. Defendants need to be enjoined from patterns and practices that

violate voters’ rights and also violate federal and state elections law.

PLAINTIFFS’ VOTING RIGHTS ABRIDGED

"[T]he right to vote is a fundamental right," Thomas v. Mimms, 317 F.Supp.
179 (S.D.Ala.1970) (citing Harper v. Virginia State Bd. of Elections, 383 U.S. 663,
86 S.Ct. 1079, 16 L.Ed.2d 169 (1966)). A citizen may not be stripped of such right
without due process of the law. See Williams v. Lide, 628 So.2d 531, 538 (Ala.

1993).

This Court has the legal authority to enjoin the Defendants’ participation in
the upcoming election under the first clause of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act,

42 U.S.C. § 1973a, et. seq., which provides that:

a) Authorization by court for appointment of Federal observers

10
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Whenever the Attorney General or am aggrieved person institutes a
proceeding under any statute to enforce the voting guarantees of the
fourteenth or fifteenth amendment in any State or political subdivision the
court shall authorize the appointment of Federal observers by the Di- rector
of the Office of Personnel Management in accordance with section 1973d1
of this title to serve for such period of time and for such political
subdivisions as the court shall determine is appropriate to enforce the voting
guarantees of the fourteenth or fifteenth amendment (1) as part of any
interlocutory order if the court determines that the appointment of such
observers is necessary to enforce such voting guarantees or (2) as part of any
final judgment if the court finds that violations of the fourteenth or fifteenth
amendment justifying equitable relief have occurred in such State or
subdivision. (Emphasis added)

This Court has the legal authority to enjoin the Defendants’ participation in
the upcoming election under the first clause of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), et seq., which

provides that:

If two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire or go in disguise
on the highway or on the premises of another, for the purpose of depriving,
either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of the equal
protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws;
or for the purpose of preventing or hindering the constituted authorities of
any State or Territory from giving or securing to all persons within such
State or Territory the equal protection of the laws; if two or more persons
conspire to prevent by force, intimidation, or threat, any citizen who is
lawfully entitled to vote, from giving his support or advocacy in a legal
manner, toward or in favor of the election of any lawfully qualified person as
an elector for President or Vice President, or as a Member of Congress of the
United States; or to injure any citizen in person or property on account of such
support or advocacy; in any case of conspiracy set forth in this section, if
one or more persons engaged therein do, or cause to be done, any act in
furtherance of the object of such conspiracy, whereby another is injured in
his person or property, or deprived of having and exercising any right or
privilege of a citizen of the United States, the party so injured or deprived
may have an action for the recovery of damages occasioned by such injury

11
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or deprivation, against any one or more of the conspirators. (emphases
added)

This Court is also authorized to intervene in accordance with Section 11(b) of

the Voting Rights Act, which provides:

No person, whether acting under color of law or otherwise, shall intimidate,
threaten, or coerce, or attempt to intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for
voting or attempting to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce, or attempt to
intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for urging or aiding any person to
vote or attempt to vote, or intimidate, threaten, or coerce any person for
exercising any powers or duties under section 10302(a), 10305, 10306, or
10308(e) of this title or section 1973d or 1973g of Title 42.

Defendants have willfully and knowingly violated these provisions by using
their respective positions of authority, under the color of law, to disenfranchise
certain voters and manipulate the votes of other citizens. Defendants’ have
repeatedly engaged in patterns or practices that cause certain voters’ freedom of

choice to be abridged by the various voter moguls and proxy voters.

Defendants employed a pattern and practice of using their position as elected
officials to deprive voters of their fundamental right to vote, in violation of
Plaintiffs’ fundamental right to vote protected by the First Amendment’s freedom
of speech, freedom of association, and freedom of expression clauses made
applicable to state governments by the Fourteenth Amendment. Defendants also
willfully and wantonly deprived the voting public the same rights and privileges

afforded to other similarly situated voters, as shown in the facts stated above.

12
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Defendants’ actions are also in violation of several Alabama elections laws,
most notably, § 11-46-27 (b)(1) which prohibits any and all officers or employees
of the municipality from serving as an election official, and § 11-46-27 (b)(2)
which forbids any family member or spouse of any candidate from serving as an

election official.

Defendants willfully and intentionally recruited voter moguls and other

individuals to violate the Alabama code statute §17-17-24, which states:

(a) Any person who willfully changes an absentee voter’s ballot to the extent
that it does not reflect the voter’s true ballot, any person who willfully
votes more than once by absentee ballot in the same election, any person
who willfully votes for another voter or falsifies absentee ballot
applications or verification documents so as to vote absentee, or any
person who solicits, encourages, urges, or otherwise promotes illegal
absentee voting, shall be guilty, upon conviction, of a Class C felony. Any
person who willfully aids any person unlawfully to vote an absentee
ballot, any person who knowingly and unlawfully votes an absentee ballot,
and any voter who votes both an absentee and a regular ballot at any
election shall be similarly punished.

These moguls did not allow the voter to review the voter registration form nor
the actual ballot, instead complete both on behalf of the voter and retaining
possession of each form. Most of these voters were elderly or otherwise
disadvantaged and lacked the sophistication or opportunity to express opposition to

such a practice.

13
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The facts show violations of both provisions, and other applicable provisions,
of Alabama election law by the Defendants to retain positions of power in the City
of Bessemer. This Court can act to prevent the further disenfranchisement of voters
and abridgement of Plaintiffs’, and other voters’, constitutional rights in relation to
voting. Without the intervention of this honorable Court, the Plaintiffs and other
voters in the City of Bessemer, will suffer immediate and irreparable harm that
cannot be adequately remedied by money damages. Plaintiffs have reasonably
shown their likelihood of prevailing on the merits of their claim, and the burden on
the Defendants to comply with such injunction does not outweigh the benefit to the

Plaintiffs of not suffering disenfranchisement.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs have demonstrated entitlement to injunctive relief
enjoining any and all involvement by Defendants in the administration of the

upcoming August municipal election.

Respectfully submitted this 20th day of August, 2018.

THE RICE FIRM, LLC

14
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/s/Richard A. Rice

RICHARD A. RICE (RIC086)
Attorney for the Plaintiffs

WELLS FARGO TOWER
NORTH 420 TWENTITH STREET
SUITE 2200

Birmingham, Alabama 35203
Telephone: 205.618.8733
Facsimile: 888.391.7193

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, RICHARD A. RICE, attorney for the plaintiff in this action, do hereby certify that on this
date I caused the foregoing Plaintiff’s Proposed Witness List to be electronically served upon the
following:

R Shan Paden
SPaden@padenlawyers.com

/s/Richard A. Rice

RICHARD A. RICE
Attorney for the Plaintiffs
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